IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, a political subdivision of the State of Florida,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 72,992

ROBERT N. WEBSTER,

District Court of Appeal 5th District - Case No. 87-1448

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL, SMITH & CUTLER, P.A.
Alan C. Sundberg
Sylvia H. Walbolt
Post Office Drawer 190
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 224-1585

and

Harry A. Stewart, County Attorney Joseph L. Passiatore, Assistant County Attorney ORANGE COUNTY LEGAL DEPARTMENT Orange County Administration Center Post Office Box 1393 Orlando, Florida 32802-1393 (407) 236-7320

Attorneys for Petitioner Orange County

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Orange County, Florida, a political subdivision of the State of Florida, was defendant-appellee below; it will be referred to in this brief as "the County." Respondent Robert N. Webster was the plaintiff-appellant below and he will be referred to as "the respondent."

Various record materials referenced in this brief are reproduced in the Appendix and cited as "A. [tab number]." Other references to the record are designated as "R.___." A copy of the decision sought to be reviewed is included in the Appendix at Tab 1.

All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise noted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By a vote of 69,361 to 52,732, the voters of Orange County approved a new charter on November 4, 1986 in order to bring home rule government to the County. (R. 520-526). This charter became effective on January 1, 1987, and all actions by Orange County subsequent to that time have been taken pursuant to that charter authority. On January 5, 1987, the respondent filed suit to invalidate the charter, asserting, inter alia, that the applicable statutory requirements for this charter election had not been complied with by the County. (R. 56).

Notices of the special charter election had been published by the County in accordance with Section 100.342, Fla. Stat. (1987), which prescribes the requirements for special elections "not otherwise provided for." (R. 500-502). Additionally, copies of the proposed charter had been mailed to all Orange County registered voters. (A. Tab 6, Ex. B). The circuit court entered summary judgment for the County, holding, among other things, that the County had complied with the applicable statutory requirements for a charter referendum. (R. 527-528; A. Tab 8).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal, by its decision of April 28, 1988, reversed the Circuit Court's judgment and invalidated the Orange County charter. (A. Tab 1). The District Court held that Section 125.64(1), Fla. Stat. (1967), applied to this election and that its requirements were not satisfied by the County. Section 125.64(1) requires that, "[u]pon submission to the board of county commissioners of a charter by the charter

commission, the board of county commissioners shall call a special election to be held not more than 90 nor less than 45 days subsequent to its receipt of a proposed charter " The District Court held that this statute controlled even though the charter here had not been proposed by a charter commission but by ordinance of the Board of County Commissioners itself.

The District Court further held that the County's November 4 charter election did not comply with that 45 day notice requirement because, in the District Court's view, the charter was not "received" by the Board until it was approved by the Board in its final form on September 22. (A. Tab 1, p.3). Although the Board was presented with the proposed charter, which had been prepared by the County Attorney at the Board's direction, on September 12, certain technical amendments suggested by the League of Women Voters were subsequently adopted at the Board's September 22 public hearing. (A. Tab 6, Ex. B). Because there were only 43 — rather than 45 — days between that later date and the election, the District Court concluded that Section 125.64(1) was not satisfied.

The County moved for rehearing, asserting, among other things, that the 45 day requirement of Section 125.64(1) does not apply to a board of county commissioners' initiated charter election and that, in any event, the charter should not have been invalidated since there had been substantial compliance with even that statutory requirement. (A. Tab 2). The County also urged that House Bill No. 1662, Chapter 88-38, Laws of Florida, cured the purported technical deficiency upon which the District Court

had based its decision invalidating the Orange County charter.

Id. Because this curative legislation had become law as of the time the County filed its motion for rehearing, the County asserted that this law should be applied to resolve the appeal.

By decision dated June 23, 1988, the District Court held that House Bill No. 1662 "is dispositive of the instant case." (A. Tab 4). The Court accordingly vacated its original opinion of April 28, 1988 and affirmed the trial court's judgment for the County.

Id. However, on June 28, 1988, the Court ordered, sua sponte, that its June 23 decision be "vacated and withdrawn for reconsideration of the cause." (A. Tab 5). The Court then directed the parties to file supplemental briefs concerning "the applicability, Vel non of the legislative enactment of House Bill number 162 (sic) to the instant case." Id. The parties did so. (A. Tabs 6 and 7).

By per curiam decision dated August 18, 1988, the District Court held, on motion for rehearing, as follows: "(1) that the validity and the effect of House Bill 1662 as to the charter election in question is not a proper issue in this case; (2) that if those issues are to be judicially determined it should be done in a new and separate proceeding, properly raising and presenting them; and (3) that this controversy should be disposed of solely on the issues originally framed by the pleadings, considered by the trial court and reviewed in our original opinion." (A. Tab 1, p.2). The Court then reinstated and ratified its original decision of April 28, 1988. Id.

The County filed its Notice To Invoke Discretionary

Jurisdiction on August 29, 1988. This Court accepted jurisdiction

by order dated December 8, 1988.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court incorrectly applied the requirements of Section 125.64(1), which expressly governs elections for charters proposed by autonomous charter commissions, to the Orange County election on a home rule charter proposed by the Board of County Commissioners. Both its explicit language and its statutory purpose make clear that Section 125.64(1) applies only to the specified type of charter election.

Furthermore, even if Section 125.64(1) did apply, the election was in fact held in actual, or at least substantial, compliance with the time requirements of that statute. If the term "receipt" means what it says, all of the required notice was given because the election was held within 45 to 90 days of the date the County Attorney delivered, and the Board received, the proposed charter. If "receipt" means "approval," as the Fifth District concluded, there was still <u>substantial</u> compliance with those time requirements since the election was held <u>43</u> days after the last minor changes to the proposed charter were approved by the Board. Under Florida law, substantial compliance with statutory election procedures is legally sufficient to overcome technical deficiencies. The Fifth District's decision flies in the face of that established principle.

Finally, the plain language of House Bill No. 1662, enacted to cure the technical deficiency upon which the District Court invalidated the County's home rule charter, demonstrates the Legislature's intent that the act be applied retroactively to ratify charters -- such as the Orange County Charter -- adopted pursuant to the procedures at issue here. The Fifth District held, however, that curative legislation enacted pending the appeal could not be considered by it but rather must be raised in a "new and separate proceeding" because the appeal "should be disposed of solely on the issues originally framed by the pleadings, considered by the trial court and reviewed in our original opinion." (A. Tab 1, p.2). Quite to the contrary, this Court has consistently held that legislation enacted during the pendency of a judicial proceeding must be applied in that proceeding. Under this long-standing precedent, the Fifth District was required to apply House Bill No. 1662 and give it due effect as the controlling law of Florida on this appeal.

The District Court's decision should accordingly be reversed with directions that the circuit court's judgment upholding the validity of the charter approved by the citizens of Orange County be reinstated. Indeed, unless that is done, the voters will have been deprived — on the most technical of grounds — of their franchise on this important matter of governance.

ARGUMENT

Point One

The Orange County charter election complied or substantially complied with the applicable statutory requirements.

The District Court applied the procedural requirements of Section 125.64(1), Florida Statutes, to the Orange County charter election. That statute provides that a special election to consider a charter must be held not less than 45 or more than 90 days of a board of county commissioner's receipt of the proposed charter from an autonomous charter commission. By its explicit terms, however, this statute applies only to charters proposed by an autonomous charter commission, and it should not be construed, as the District Court did, to apply to an election on a proposed charter initiated by the Board's own ordinance rather than by a charter commission. In doing so, the District Court misapprehended the legislative intent underlying that statutory time requirement.

By requiring a board to schedule an election within a specified time after it receives a proposed charter from an autonomous charter commission, the Legislature sought to preclude the possibility that an unreceptive board of county commissioners could forestall a public referendum on a proposed charter by simply failing to call an election. But that concern does not exist in a situation such as this where there was no autonomous charter commission proposing a charter. Rather, since the Board

of County Commissioners <u>had itself</u> adopted an ordinance to propose <u>its own charter</u>, there would be no reason for the Board not to schedule an election on its own proposed charter.

Even if the time constraints of Section 125.64(1) were applicable to a proposed charter initiated by the Board rather than by a charter commission, they were in fact complied with here. The triggering event under that statute is the date the charter was received by the Board of County Commissioners. The record is undisputed that the Board was given -- and thus "received" -- the charter, which had been prepared by the County Attorney, on September 12, 1986. (R. 433-437). The District Court, however, erroneously equated "receipt" with "approval," holding that "[A]lthough the County Attorney forwarded his recommendations to the Board on September 12, 1986, [the League's proposed] changes were not approved, and, therefore, not received until September 22, 1986."

Contrary to the District Court's decision, the statutory language does not require that the board "approve" a charter proposed by a charter commission, only that it shall "call a special election to be held not more than 90 nor less than 45 days subsequent to its receipt of the proposed charter . . . " There is, in short, no basis in the statute itself for equating "receipt" by the board with "approval."

In point of fact, when the statute is utilized as the Legislature intended -- to process a charter <u>proposed</u> by a <u>charter commission</u> -- <u>no approval by the board</u> is even contemplated or required. Accordingly, under interpretive gloss the District

Court placed upon Section 125.64(1), the 45 day period would never begin to run because the board does not grant its approval where an autonomous charter commission has prepared the proposed charter. More importantly, if the triggering event were such approval, then the very purpose of that time requirement could be defeated by a recalcitrant board which refused to "approve" an independent commission's proposed charter or kept making changes to it — thereby enabling it to avoid calling an election on a charter it opposed. Patently, "receipt" alone, without the need for further action by the board, was intended to trigger the time requirements.

The District Court's strained construction of Section 125.64(1) graphically demonstrates the Court's error in applying that statute to this type of election. The reason offered by the District Court for interpreting "receipt of the proposed charter" as meaning "approval" is that "a contrary conclusion would allow the Board to subvert the Legislative dictates by allowing amendments to the proposed Charter up to the date of the election." But that is not the case at all. Quite to the contrary, the District Court overlooked both the 30 to 45 day notice requirement of Section 125.64(1) and the requirements for passing a county ordinance as prescribed by Section 125.66.

Under Section 125.64(1), there could be no amendments to the proposed charter after the thirtieth day prior to the referendum; the original notice would no longer be timely under the 30 to 45 day publication requirement, and any such amendments would require new notice to the electors of a new charter. Furthermore, Section

125.66 provides that an ordinance may not be enacted or amended unless "notice of intent to consider such ordinance is given at least 15 days prior to said meeting, excluding Sundays and legal holidays." As a result of these requirements, Orange County did not have the option of amending the charter up to the date of the election.

Finally, although the Fifth District emphasized the fact that two changes were submitted by the League of Women Voters at the September 22, 1986 public hearing, it overlooked the fact that both recommendations resulted in <u>deletions</u> from the proposed charter already received by the Board, <u>neither of which</u> altered the substance of the proposed charter in any way. 1/ Amendments to ordinances are clearly allowed at public hearings, so long as they fall within the scope of the subject matter advertised.

For all of these reasons, the District Court erred in invalidating the Orange County charter based on the requirements of Section 125.64(1). The Court should have instead affirmed the judgment of the trial court validating the charter as having been adopted in compliance with the election scheduling requirements applicable to counties proceeding under Part IV of Chapter 125.

Even assuming, however, that the Section 125.64(1), Part II time requirements were applicable to the adoption of the Orange County Charter pursuant to Part IV of Chapter 125 and that Orange County failed to comply fully with its requirements, the

^{1/} The changes are described in Defendant's Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment at R. 216 and 217, as well as Orange County League of Women Voters' position paper on proposed charter government at R. 439 and 440.

inescapable fact remains that Orange County <u>substantially</u> complied with them. The election should therefore not have been invalidated by the District Court on the basis of the technicality seized upon by the respondent.

Florida law makes clear that technical irregularities in the election process should not be permitted to impair the will of the people when substantial compliance with the applicable statutory requirements has been achieved. 2/ The citizens' right to vote is one of the most basic rights afforded by our democracy; indeed, it has been described by this Court as "the keystone in the arch of liberty." State v. Gates, 134 So. 2d 497, 500 (Fla. 1961). It should not be negated on purely technical grounds, where no fraud is established, where no voter was prevented from expressing his choice, and where it is not shown that, but for the acts complained of, the result would have been different. Carn v. Moore, 74 Fla. 77, 76 So. 337, 340 (1917).

This is the rule in other jurisdictions as well. See e.g., Richards v. Barone, 275 A.2d 771 (N.J. Super. Ct. Law Div. 1971) (despite failure to publish notice of the proposed public question at the general election as required by statute, in view of the mailing of sample ballots to all township residents showing such question thereon, and a vast amount of publicity concerning the issue it could not be said that the procedural omission had the effect of imposing so vital an influence on an election that the election should be vitiated); State of Tennessee v. Quarterly County Court, 351 S.W.2d 390 (Tenn. 1961) (eight days' legal notice of the election, coupled with general newspaper coverage of the public issues, constituted substantial compliance with the Tennessee statute that required ten days' notice); Wurst v. Lowery, 695 S.W.2d 378 (Ark. 1985); Stanley v. Southwestern Community College Merged Area (Merged Area XIV) in Counties of Adair, et al., 184 N.W.2d 29 (Iowa 1971); Minthorn v. Hale, 372 S.W.2d 752 (Tex. Civ. App. 1963); Gray v. Reorganized School District R-4 of Oregon County, 356 S.W.2d 55 (Mo. 1962).

The underlying rationale for this rule was exhaustively reviewed by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Boardman v. Esteva</u>, 323 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1975), <u>cert. denied</u>, 425 U.S. 967, 96 S.Ct. 2162 (1976). Although the absentee ballots challenged there failed to meet a number of statutory requirements, the Court refused to void them on that technical ground. Instead, the Court quoted with approval the following language of the Nebraska Supreme Court in McMaster v. Wilkinson, 145 Neb. 39, 15 N.W. 2d 348, 353 (1944):

It is the policy of the law to prevent as far as possible the disenfranchisement of electors who have cast their ballots in good faith, and while the technical requirements set forth in the absentee voting law are mandatory, yet in meeting these requirements laws are construed so that a substantial compliance therewith is all that is required.

The Court further cautioned against elevating form over substance in the regulation of elections, stating that:

By refusing to recognize an otherwise valid exercise of the right of a citizen to vote for the sake of sacred, unyielding adherence to statutory scripture, we would in effect nullify that right.

323 So.2d at 263.

The <u>Boardman</u> decision and its progeny make clear that deviations from statutory election procedures, even mandatory procedures, are not, standing alone, a sufficient reason to invalidate the election. Rather, because "the primary consideration in an election contest is whether the will of the people has been effected," three factors are to be considered in that regard:

(a) the presence or absence of fraud, gross negligence, or intentional wrongdoing;

- (b) whether there was been substantial compliance with the essential requirements of the absentee voting law; and
- (c) whether the irregularities complained of adversely affect the sanctity of the ballot and the integrity of the election.

323 So.2d at 269.

Each of these considerations mandates the affirmance of the voters' approval of the Orange County Charter. There is no claim of fraud, gross negligence or intentional wrongdoing, and there was certainly substantial compliance with the time requirements for the election. The record establishes the many notices, advertisements, mailings, and meetings regarding this proposed charter government. (A. Tab 2, p. i-ii). Given the widespread publicity the proposed charter received in Orange County -including the actual mailing of the proposed charter to all Orange County voters a month before the election -- the electorate was timely and fully informed as to the proposed charter. Certainly no one suggests that the election outcome would have been different had the election been held three days later. In these circumstances, the absence of strict compliance with all of the technical requirements of the election statutes should not be allowed to thwart the will of the electorate.

This Court recently adhered to this important principle, declaring that "the electorate's effecting its will through its balloting, not the hypertechnical compliance with statutes, is the object of holding an election." State of Florida on the Relation of Bill Chappell, Jr. v. Bob Martinez, 13 F.L.W. 702 (Fla. December 8, 1988). Holding that "'there is no magic in the

statutory requirements,'" the Court refused to disenfranchise voters where there was substantial compliance with those statutory requirements.

In this case, as in the decisions cited above, there is no claim that any person entitled to vote was prevented from expressing his choice or that the election was anything other than a full, fair and free expression of the will of the people.

Hence, the District Court's acceptance of the respondent's hypertechnical argument only serves to suppress the full, fair and free expression of the common will. Since the overriding concern in election proceedings is to effect the will of the people, the results of this election -- held in substantial compliance with the statutory time requirements -- should be affirmed.

Point Two

Any technical irregularities in the Orange County Charter election were cured by House Bill No. 1662.

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