0/a 3-10-89

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

COUNTY OF ORANGE, ETC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

ROBERT N. WEBSTER,

Respondent.

_____/

CASE NO. 72,992

FILED SID J. WHITE
JAN 24 1989
CLERK, EURIANE COURT
Departy Clark

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JOHNIE A. McLEOD, ESQUIRE McLEOD, McLEOD & McLEOD, P. A. 48 East Main Street Post Office Drawer 950 Apopka, FL 32704 (407) 886-3300 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The County's Motion for Summary Judgment was clearly violative of the applicable rule of civil procedure for its failure to allege that no genuine issue of material fact existed and that the County was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The trial court's order also failed to comply with the rule by failing to state that either of the movants was entitled to judgment as a matter of law, and was unresponsive to Webster's contention in his Motion for Summary Judgment that Webster was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Even if the substantive issues of law raised by these motions should have <u>ultimately</u> been decided in the County's favor, the County clearly failed to meet its burden of proof in that it proffered legally insufficient affidavits in support of its motion.

With respect to the substantive issues of law raised, the County clearly violated statutory and constitutional requirements regarding notice and timing of the election. These violations were not merely "technical," as Orange County contended below, but rendered the entire election void <u>ab initio</u>, since the election was required to be a <u>special election</u>. Because these violations were not merely technical, Webster was not estopped to bring suit even after the election was held. In such a case, a post-election challenge does not thwart the "will of the electorate," since it was never properly expressed in the first instance.

Additionally, the County clearly failed to comply with <u>either</u> of the two statutory procedures by which it might have adopted a charter, Part II, Sections 125.60-125-64, and Part IV, 125180-125-85, Florida Statutes (1985). Under both methods, the statutory requirements for notice and the timing of the referendum election in relation thereto are the same. <u>See</u>, § 125.82, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1985) [incorporating into Part IV of Chapter 125 the requirements of Section 125.64, but without regard to the time limitation placed on charter commissions found in Section 125.64(3).] Even if this Court accepts the County's contention that these requirements are inapplicable to the procedure allowed by Part IV of Chapter 125 (Sections 125.80-125.85), the County failed to comply with the requirement of Part IV that when the procedure provided by Part IV is utilized, the County <u>must</u> adopt one of three types of government. § 125.84, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1985).

Attached to the County's memorandum in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment were comments entitled "Affidavit in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment." (RIII. 414, 429, 432, 438, 441, 453, 455, 481, 483, 506, 507, 509, 518, 520). In the first paragraph of each affidavit it is stated that the affiant has been "apprised as to the nature of the above styled lawsuit." (Id.). No affiant addresses whether there was any genuine issue as to any material fact or addresses any substantial matter of law. Instead each affiant only attests to the truth and correctness of various documents attached thereto. (Id.). All these affidavits also fail to state that the assertions made therein respecting the documents are of the affiant's personal knowledge; that the documents attached to the affidavits would be admissible in evidence; and that the affiants were competent to testify to the matters stated therein. (Id.).

Chapter 125.66 requires that an ordinance must be filed with the Clerk of the Board of County Commissioners fifteen (15) days before considering an ordinance, excluding Sundays and holidays. The proposed ordinance was filed on September 2, 1986, and published in a newspaper on September 3, 1986, noticing a meeting to be held on September 22, 1986. The proposed ordinance was filed without the changes (amendments) made on September 22, 1986, and without the attached charter, so a person could not physically review Ordinance No. 86-22 until it was typed, as amended, on September 23, 1986. The charter and ordinance were

Page 7

not accepted by the Board with amendments, until September 22, 1986. Florida Statutes Chapter 125.66 further provides that certified copies of the ordinance shall be filed with the Department of State within 10 days after enactment and shall take effect upon receipt of the official acknowledgment from that office that said ordinance has been filed. The ordinance was mailed September 25, 1986, filed by Department of State on September 29, 1986, and Notice of Filing received by County on October 2, 1986.

Publication for referendum was published September 28, 1986, and October 12, 1986, as a general election and not a special election. The ordinance was not effective until October 2, 1986, and the only publication after that date was October 12, 1986.

The County should have filed the ordinance as amended and approved on September 22, 1986, with the Clerk and new notice published for passage of Ordinance #86-22 pursuant to Florida Statute 125.66, then passed and mailed to the Department of State to comply with Florida Statute 125.66 before the vote could be held as a special election as required by Article VIII, Sec. 1(c) Florida Statutes.

ARGUMENT

I.

ORANGE COUNTY FAILED TO COMPLY WITH APPLICABLE CONSTI-TUTIONAL AND STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS THUS VOIDING THE CHARTER ELECTION, AND WEBSTER IS NOT ESTOPPED FROM RAISING THESE FAILURES AFTER THE ELECTION AND THE ORDER OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SHOULD BE AFFIRMED The Constitution of the State of Florida requires that charters be adopted, amended or repealed "only upon vote of the electors of the county in a <u>special election called for that</u> <u>purpose."</u> Art. 8, § 1(c), <u>Fla. Const.</u> (1968) (emphasis supplied). The County did not call a special election for the purpose of adopting a charter in the instant case, as required by the constitution, despite belatedly denominating it as such on the ballot. <u>See</u>, (RI. 189).

Webster does not contend that the constitution was violated simply because the charter referendum was held the same day as a general election, as the County attempted to characterize in its argument below. (RII. 198). Webster conceded it was possible to hold a special election and a general election on the same day, but contended that when this was done the County would have to do more than retroactively denominate the referendum as a "special election" on the ballot in order to meet the constitutional requirement.

Clearly, the referendum below was not a special election called for the purpose of adopting or amending a charter. Professor Black defines the verb "call" as follows:

To make a request or demand; to summon or demand by name; . . to demand the presence and participation of a number of persons by calling aloud their names, either in a pre-arranged and systematic order or in a succession determined by chance.

H. Black, Black's Law Dictionary 185 (5th ed. 1979).

The above definitions encompass two factors: (1) a summons, request or demand; and (2) a denomination. The Florida constitution does not prescribe calling the electorate <u>to</u> a special

Page 9

election, but "calling" the special election <u>itself</u>. Thus, the constitution requires not only that the electorate be notified of a referendum in which a charter is to be considered, but also that such notice shall inform the electorate that a <u>special</u> <u>election</u> is to be held for such purpose; the election must be so denominated in any notice to the electorate so that it fully understands the gravity of the measure being considered.

In the instant case, Orange County published two notices of the referendum, both of which stated that the County would hold a "general election." (RI 181) (emphasis supplied). The direct-mail notification of the charter referendum, the significance of which the County heavily emphasized below, similarly noted, both on its introductory page (RI. 182) and the outer envelope (RI. 188), that the referendum on the charter would take place at a "general election" (emphasis supplied). The enabling ordinance also stated the referendum would take place at a "general election." See, (RII. 233). Under these circumstances, the County failed to comply with the constitutional requirement that a special election be called for the purpose of adopting the charter.

The County also failed to comply with the statutory requirements for notice of election and the date of the referendum. Section 125.64(1), Florida Statutes (1985) states:

(1) Upon submission to the board of county commissioners of a charter by the charter commissioners of a charter by the charter commission, the board of county commissioners shall call a special election to be held not more than 90 nor less than 45 days subsequent to its receipt of the proposed charter, at which special election a referendum of the qualified electors within the county shall be held to determine whether the proposed charter shall be adopted. Notice of the election on the proposed charter shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the county not less than 30 nor more than 45 days before the election.

(Emphasis supplied.)

Orange County contended that the above statutory requirement did not apply because it utilized the "Optional County Charter Law," Part IV of Chapter 125, Florida Statutes. (RII. 200-201). This contention is without merit since Section 125.82 provides:

125.82 Charter adoption by ordinance.-- As a supplemental and alternative way to the provisions of ss. 125.60-125.64, inclusive, the board of county commissioners may propose by ordinance a charter consistent with the provisions of this part and provide for a special election <u>pursuant</u> to the procedures established in s. 125.64 without regard to the time limitation contained in subsection 125.64(3).

(Emphasis supplied.)

Similarly, Orange County also argued that the Study Committee was not a "charter commission" referred to in Section 125.64, so that the 45-day requirement did not apply, because the Board did not receive the proposed charter from a charter commission.

The legislature is presumed to know what statutes are in force when it enacts new legislation, so that new enactments of a fragmentary nature on a subject are to be construed as fitting into the existing system and carried into conformity therewith, see, 49 Fla. Jur. 2d Statutes § 175 (1984, supp. 1987), and in the case of Part IV of Chapter 125, the legislature specifically referred to the requirements of Section 125.64 and made them applicable (with the sole exception of the restriction on holding a second referendum within two years of a previous rejection by the electorate of charter proposal). Under these а

circumstances, the plain meaning of Section 126.82 requires that the 45-day requirement be applied to Part IV of Chapter 125. Statutes are to be construed according to the plain meaning of the words employed. <u>See, e. g.</u>, <u>Rinker Materials Corp. v. North</u> <u>Miami</u>, 286 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1973), 288 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974). To refuse to apply the 45-day limit to Part IV of Chapter 125 in light of Section 125.82 would render the latter provision meaningless and absurd, and such constructions are not favored and should not be adopted by this Court. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>State v.</u> Webb, 398 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 1981).

Since the 45-day limit must be applied even if the County was proceeding pursuant to Part IV of Chapter 125, the next question to be answered is when the proposed charter was "received" by the Board. The County predictably contended that the proposed charter was "received" in a letter from the County attorney dated August 29 (RI. 134), which would place the election on November 4, more than 45 days but less than 90 days after receipt.

However, this argument fails because the proposed charter "received" via the County Attorney's letter was not "<u>the</u>" same charter proposal put to the county electorate. The proposed charter which was the subject of the November 4 referendum was not voted upon by County until the September 22 meeting, at which time several suggested amendments by the County Attorney and the League of Women Voters were considered and approved. Under the "charter commission" procedure set forth in Sections 125.60-125.64, Florida Statutes (1985), it is clear that this amendment procedure would have been deemed complete when the commission finished its work and submitted its proposal to the Board. See, § 125.63, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1985). A similar rule should apply in this case as the ordinance was complete on 9/22/86, but not before.

Although the County here claimed it was proceeding under the alternate method provided by Part IV of Chapter 125 (Section 125.80, et seq.), this Court should affirm the Order of the Fifth District Court of Appeal by applying the Section 125.64(1) 45-day time limit by virtue of Section 125.82 as the Board does not "receive" the proposed charter until the amendment process applicable to charter proposals has reached its end. Such a holding would effectuate the clear intent of the legislature in enacting Section 125.64(1), i.e., to give the electorate at least 45 days to consider the wisdom of so drastic a step as adoption of a county charter. On the other hand, this legislative purpose would not be best served by holding that "receipt" of a proposed charter different than that which is ultimately submitted to the voters would satisfy the requirement of receipt so as to start the 45-day period running.

If the County's interpretation of the statutes' proper application is accepted, the legislative intent is thwarted, because the Board can use up as much of the 45-day time period as it desires in the amendment process, finally producing a proposed charter markedly different from the initial draft provided by its County Attorney. Of course, this time before the proposed charter which is to be submitted to the electorate is finally

Page 13

voted upon it is unavailable for the electorate to begin consideration of the proposed charter, thus depriving the electorate of the full period for reflection, contemplation, and debate which the legislature intended them to have as required by Chapter 125.66, 125.82 and 125.64. For example, in this instance, if the County's interpretation is correct, the election could have been properly held as early as October 13, 1986 (45 days from August 29), but since the "final" charter proposed was not formulated until September 22, 1986, that would give the electorate only 43 days, not the 45 prescribed by the legislature. In short, the County failed to hold the election at least 45 days after receipt of the charter proposal, thus invalidating the election regardless of the procedure the County was purportedly following.

For example, <u>Special Tax School District No. 1 of Duval</u> <u>County v. State</u>, 123 So. 2d 316 (Fla. 1960) involved a bond validation referendum. In that case the supreme court opined:

Concerning the question of whether there was a compliance with the provision of the law relating to the publication of the notice of reregistration, we have heretofore pointed out that such notice was published in the form of a legal advertisement in only one issue of the newspaper whereas the statute requires that said notice be published once each week for four consecutive weeks. Petitioners' argument that the wide-spread publicity appearing in the press and on television and radio during each day from prior to the date of the first publication of this notice to and including the date of the election constituted a substantial compliance with the requirement of the statute cannot be sustained. Nor do we believe that any extended discussion of such nebulous argument is necessary to justify this conclusion. Special elections, and particularly those which might result in requiring the exercise of the power of taxation, must be conducted in substantial compliance with constitutional and statutory requirements. Newspaper articles or comments or publicity by television or radio cannot lawfully substitute for the mandatory requirements of

the law. The power to prescribe what shall constitute reasonable notice of an election, reregistration or other procedures is a legislative one. When it does so in elections of this kind, the requirements must be substantially complied with. One publication of the notice cannot conceivably be construed to be a substantial compliance with a statute which requires such notice to be published once each week for four consecutive weeks. Such requirement, being a <u>condition</u> <u>precedent</u> to an effective election, clearly supports the conclusion of the trial judge that this fatality vitiated the entire election.

123 So. 2d at 322 (footnote omitted, emphasis supplied).

Similarly, in City of Miami v. Romfh, 66 Fla. 280, 63 So.

440 (1913), the court opined:

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